1986

# Helen Naranjo v. Jose L. Naranjo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court erred by giving one party an equal share in the proceeds of a personal injury judgment received by the other.
2. Whether the trial court erred in sharing equally a traceable home equity owned by one of the parties prior to their marriage.
3. Whether the trial court erred in awarding to one party occupancy, not ownership which was split equally, of a home needed by the other for maintenance of a business, when the marriage was childless, neither had a greater residential need for the home than the other, occupancy of the home gave the party who received it no advantage on monthly expenses, and relocating the business will cause a substantial monthly expense and time loss to the evicted party.
4. Whether the court erred in awarding alimony over one-half of the husband's disposable monthly income when the wife was unemployed but in good health and capable of working, had worked before, and, while the



parties had been married 16 years, the marriage had been childless.

5. Whether the court erred by splitting equally between the parties a major investment made in a highly speculative stock by the wife over the husband's objections, by not telling him she had bought it, putting it solely in her name, yet using the other party's personal assets to do so, when there were sufficient assets that the party making such speculative investment could have received it in its entirety, with its potential of gain or loss, and the other party given offsetting conservative assets.
6. Whether the trial court doesn't have the duty, when circumstances justify it, to look to the future effect of a decree, when later proceedings pursuant to 30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, to modify the decree will be ineffective to correct the flaws and waste of assets inherent in the decree, and whether the reviewing court has the power to modify such a decree.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### NATURE OF THE CASE:

This is a divorce action.

### PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT:

The case was tried before Judge J. Dennis Frederick on November 16, 1984. He entered judgment February 25, 1985. Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment was denied by Judge Frederick on April 24, 1985.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The trial court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree of Divorce are attached as Addendum 1. Its Bench Ruling is attached as Addendum 3.

The parties married December 4, 1968. Plaintiff filed for divorce, in 1983. They continued to reside in their Magna, Utah, home until trial, plaintiff upstairs and defendant downstairs.

At the time the case was tried on November 16, 1984, plaintiff was 59 years old and defendant 51 years old.

During the 15 years they lived together, the parties had no children. Each had been married before. Defendant has never had children. Plaintiff had five children by previous marriages whom defendant helped raise.

At the time of trial, all of plaintiff's children were adult, married and lived away from the parties.

In the allocation of assets made by the trial judge, he essentially followed the asset list and values of plaintiff's Exhibit 5 with some correction of figures as he announced from the bench. The end result was the following distribution of assets (also attached as Annex 6).

# COURT'S AWARD

| <u>TO WIFE</u>  |   | <u>TO HUSBAND</u> |                              |
|-----------------|---|-------------------|------------------------------|
| \$31,411        | 1/2 present home (Magna)                    | \$31,411          | 1/2 present home, Magna      |
| \$17,835        | Accounts receivable                         | 4,200             | Accounts Receivable          |
| 1,000           | 2 burial lots                               | 1,000             | 2 burial lots                |
| 3,000           | household furniture                         | 8,000             | Kenworth truck               |
| 1,800           | 1978 Chrysler                               | 1,000             | Tires                        |
| 100             | 1953 Chevrolet pickup                       | 1,000             | Tools                        |
| 37,900          | Wightman-Clark contract (yield \$375/month) | 300               | Honda 360                    |
| 2,000           | Brighton Bank account                       | 200               | 1949 Inter. Pickup           |
| 16,200          | 1/2 National Military                       | 1,000             | Boat and trailer             |
|                 |   | 3,000             | 1974 Ford Pickup with camper |
|                 |   | 4,500             | 1977 Trailmobile Trailer     |
|                 |   | 31,998            | Savings                      |
|                 |   | 6,400             | Savings                      |
|                 |   | 400               | Savings                      |
|                 |   | 7,400             | Savings                      |
|                 |   | 16,200            | 1/2 National Military        |
|                 |   |                   | Underwriter's stock          |
| <hr/> \$111,846 |   | <hr/> \$118,009   |                              |

Alimony - \$800/month

Magna Home - 1/2 equity to wife. She to pay husband his 1/2 equity, fixed at \$31,411, when plaintiff remarries or five years, whichever comes sooner.

#### HUSBAND'S INCOME

Mr. Naranjo's income as a self-employed truck driver was covered for several years. His gross income, after business expenses, and before taxes, is as follows on a monthly basis:

\$1408.75 - 1982 Tax returns (Ex. 4)

\$1315.00 - 1983 Tax returns (Ex. 3)

\$2324.59 - Year prior to trial, November, 1983, through October,

1984 (Defendant's Ex. 18)

\$1889.00 - Defendant's income, April, 1984, through June, 1984

(Plaintiff's Ex. 7).

This is also reproduced on Addendum 6.

Plaintiff had worked before the marriage, (R. 173, L. 16-21) and intermittently during the marriage at a number of different jobs such as grocery checker, clerk, receptionist and cashier. (R. 193, L 4-10). Her last job paid \$150 gross per week for part-time work. (R. 178, L. 5-19).

At the time of trial, plaintiff was not employed, having quit her last job and would take a new job when she could find "a good job". (R. 187, L 23-24). She had worked during the marriage when she chose to. (R. 193, L 18-21). In the five years prior to the divorce she had worked only about one-fourth of the time. (R 193, L 11-13). The trial court properly found she was "capable of employment". (Findings, paragraph 5, Add. 1 P. 2).

Defendant is an American of Mexican ancestry. Growing up, he worked as a farm laborer. After service in the Army, he

became a truck driver working for wages. (R. 212, L 6-11)

During their marriage, defendant purchased a long haul diesel tractor and a flat bed trailer, and worked self employed as a long-haul lease driver.

When the parties were first married, they lived in a home in Kearns defendant had been purchasing.

After defendant became self-employed, and had his tractor and trailer to house, and he being a diesel mechanic able to do maintenance and routine work on the vehicles, (R. 224, L 25-225, L 9) they moved into a home in Magna, Utah, which was on a 1-1/2 acre lot. (Ex. 14)

On the Magna lot, working together, but essentially with defendant's money, (R. 180, L 11-18; R. 200, L 22-201, L 6) they built a garage large enough to house both the tractor and the trailer. Defendant equipped the garage with trucking gear such as spare tires and cargo chains, and tools and materials to service the vehicles. (R. 224, L25-R.225, L9).

The garage was larger than the home. (R. 223, L 22-R. 226, L 15; Ex. 11, 12, 13).

A current realtor's appraisal on the home was received in evidence. (Ex. 14) The realtor commented on the lot containing a small well-kept home, but resale of the lot being complicated by the large commercial garage on the same property.

Defendant testified that by having the garage at home he could work after runs and on weekends maintaining his equipment

and that he would not be able to make ends meet without that facility. (R. 223, L 25-225, L 9).

In 1980, defendant sustained a severe injury. While a load of pipe he had delivered was being unloaded at a refinery in Colorado, a 40-foot long pipe was dropped by the crane carrying it, bounced and smashed defendant's left knee.

His lawsuit against the refinery for negligence in its handling of the pipe yielded him a \$150,000 jury verdict in 1982. This was reduced to \$120,000 by the jury finding that he had 20% comparative negligence. To settle the case rather than endure an appeal, defendant agreed to a cash settlement of \$110,000 which the refinery paid. (Ex. 8, 25)

The jury verdict following Colorado procedure, was a single figure verdict, not broken down into general and special damages. (Ex. 8)

Exhibit 25 includes an accounting letter of June 8, 1982, to defendant from his attorney itemizing distribution of the \$110,000. This is attached as Addendum 4.

After deducting costs, attorney fees, and reimbursement of \$18,000 to the Utah State Insurance Fund for Workmen's Compensation benefits defendant had received, defendant received a net of \$61,459.45.

Other than nine months off work to recuperate from the knee injury (R. 205, L 2-5) and its incident operations, defendant had continued to, and now does, drive his truck.

A letter from defendant's attending physician, Dr. Johnathan Horne concerning defendant's knee (Ex. 22; attached as Addendum 5), stated that his days as a truck driver were numbered, and while he might work indefinitely, the knee was deteriorating and he might be able to drive only two more years.

Defendant testified that the knee was steadily becoming more painful, that the continual operation of the truck's clutch, which is harder to operate than a passenger car's, was constantly painful to him, but that even so he was working extra hours to make ends meet, and he would continue to drive as long as he could stand the pain. (R. 203, L 6-204, L 1; R. 213, L 25-R 214, L 24; R. 227, L 24-R. 231, L9; R. 223, L 1-25; R. 235, L 11-25).

Defendant put \$50,000 of the award in thrift certificates. The other \$11,459.45 he shared with plaintiff. (R. 219, L 9-14).

In putting the \$50,000 into thrift certificates, defendant put it in his name and plaintiff's, but for the purpose of meeting his future medical needs and reduced earning capacity. He knew he would not receive future Workman's Compensation nor Teanster's benefits. (Addendum 4, paragraph 1; U.C.A. 35-1-62(3), R. 212, L 25-213, L 24; R. 216, L 17-R. 217, L 3).

Plaintiff acknowledged that she knew that the savings certificates represented defendant's personal injury proceeds (R. 196, L 5-R. 197, L 15). Nevertheless, without his knowledge, (R. 189, L 14-23) plaintiff went to their safety deposit box, took

\$30,000 of the thrift certificates, which with accumulated interest totaled \$32,400, and used this to purchase 64,800 shares of National Military Underwriters. (R. 182, 18-23; R. 196, L 17-21). She had first asked him to buy it and he refused to allow use of his award for that purpose (R. 196, L 17-197, L 16).

The district court case number D83-3755 indicates that plaintiff filed for divorce in 1983. She purchased this stock in 1984 (R. 182, L 18-25).

Plaintiff put the shares in her name alone (R. 183, L 1-7).

She asked at trial that the stock be awarded to her in its entirety (R. 202, L 22-24). She worked for National Military Underwriters when she bought the stock and, at trial, thought it would be profitable (R. 197, L 20-R. 198, L 6).

As indicated in Annex 6 and Exhibits 3, 4, 7 and 18, defendant's income fluctuated as he was self-employed without a regular paycheck. The highest figure of his earnings is that submitted by himself on Exhibit 18 for the year prior to trial, November 1983 through October 1984. This totaled \$27,895.08 for the year, \$2,324.59 per month on the average, before taxes.

Defendant did not have a regular paycheck with itemized deductions. His taxes for 1984 were not prepared in November of that year when the case was tried. Accordingly, his net income has to be approximated.



In his counsel's court experience deducting net from gross income is a fairly common procedure. This is not submitted as law, but as experience for ordinary income brackets. In that situation the judge or commissioner usually takes 30-35% off the gross to arrive at the net, to cover the three variables-FICA, federal tax and state tax. Applied to defendant's monthly gross of \$2,324.59, this approximation yields a net income of \$1,510.98 to \$1,627.21 per month as the maximum earnings his work history shows.

Plaintiff testified in regard to alimony, that defendant "can afford \$1,000 real easy" (R. 187, L 13-24).

Defendant testified that notwithstanding his leg pain he worked nine hours a day, five to six days a week (R. 221, L 1-24), that he had priced a new truck which would be easier for his knee (R. 209, L15-23), that if he could afford to pay out \$1,000 a month, he would have bought the new truck (R. 233, L 11-15) and would work less hours (R. 233, L 16-18), and that the reason for his working such long hours was to make ends meet (R. 233, L 19-21).

The final matter concerning the parties' finances to be touched on is the equity in the home in Kearns, plaintiff owned at the time of their marriage. He purchased it in 1958 or 1959 (R. 227, L 21-228, L 3), he made improvements before their marriage and made a small downpayment of about \$500 or \$600 (R. 228, L 6-18). Further improvements were made after he married plaintiff.

When they sold the first home, the Kearns home, they sold it on contract for \$41,000 in 1974, paying off the \$7,800 first mortgage balance, and carrying the contract entirely themselves as an investment, The buyers defaulted, renegotiated and, at trial owed a balance of \$37,900 payable at \$375 per month at 15% interest and a balloon payment of the balance due in two years. Defendant's equity is intact in this balance (R. 181, L19-R. 182, L 4-R. 187, L 7-11).

Using the later date of purchase 1959, defendant owned the home nine years before his marriage to plaintiff in 1968, and sold it six years later in 1974. This equity was \$33,200 based on \$41,000 sale price and \$7,800 mortgage balance.

It is impossible to determine the amount of equity defendant had in the home at the time he married plaintiff. However, there are enough figures to work from, damages being formulated on the best rational base.

Over 15 years ownership a \$33,200 equity break down to a growth of \$2,213 per year. For the six years of ownership during the marriage this would total \$13,280. One-half of that, giving plaintiff a full share, would be \$6,640. This leaves an equity interest in defendant of \$26,560. If the view is taken that equity growth during marriage is totally a shared asset, even though the home was in defendant's name alone, his equity would be \$19,917, based on nine years ownership prior to the marriage.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court's decree erred in (a) awarding alimony without a proper basis, (b) sharing defendant's traceable premarital asset, his equity in the Kearns' home, on the basis that "when parties marry, they agree to--and, in this case did, pool their respective assets," (c) sharing one party's personal injury award with the other without basis, (d) forcing one party to share a major, speculative investment made secretly by the other while the divorce was pending, (e) requiring defendant to vacate the home with its garage which constitutes a financial loss without justification, and (f) the decree sets up a situation that will cause present and future economic loss which is not remediable under Utah Code Annotated, Section 30-3-5, so that to protect the parties the decree should be restructured, preferably by the reviewing court.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

#### THE COURT ERRED IN SHARING EQUALLY BETWEEN THE PARTIES, DEFENDANT'S PERSONAL INJURY AWARD.

The facts are stated at pages 7-8 of the Statement of Facts.

Izatt v. Izatt, Utah, 627 P.2d 49 (1981), recognizes

that, Utah not being a community property state, injured parties own their personal injury awards as separate, non-marital assets. This rule accords with law from other jurisdictions such as Amato v. Amato, 434 A.2d 639, (N.J. 1981); Rickman v. Rickman, 605 P.2d 909 (Az 1980); Burgh v. Burgh, 608 P.2d 329 (Az 1980); Luxton v. Luxton, 648 P.2d (N.M. 1982) and Brown v. Brown, 675 P.2d 1207 (Wash. 1984).

If the other party wishes to put on evidence that some part of the award should be shared, such as based on the family incurring debts due to the injury as was the fact situation in Izatt, supra, it is the burden of proof of that party to present such evidence as to justify those coming out of the separate property of the other.

Plaintiff introduced no evidence of any kind to show any existing debts which had to be reimbursed from defendant's fund. She could not. There were no marital debts except for the mortgage on the Magna home. (Findings, Paragraph 18, Add. 1, P. 6)

The trial judge stated in his bench ruling:

"Now, I recognize counsel there is some disparity in the calculation of the respective awards. However, it is my view that taking into account the personal injury award, because I am unable--the evidence does not establish what portion of that represented, if any, lost wages vs. pain and suffering that the plaintiff, by virtue of any award is sharing in that award." (Add. 3. P 5)

The court repeated its mistaken expression that the burden of proof was on the defendant at paragraph 16 of its Findings of Fact in which the court stated:

'16. The Court finds that defendant was awarded a judgment for injuries, in the original amount of \$110,000 in June, 1982. Of this, \$18,000 was paid to the Utah State Insurance Fund to reimburse lost income and medical expenses received by the defendant, and after costs and fees, defendant received net cash of \$61,459. The Court finds defendant did not meet his burden of showing the amount of this award attributable to special damages, which the Court determines to be joint marital property as lost income, and accordingly, the Court finds the whole \$61,459 to be joint property; \$60,000 of this money was put in joint saving certificates, two \$20,000 certificates and two \$10,000 certificates. The Court took into consideration the possibility that defendant may require future surgery in awarding him the majority of the income producing assets of the marriage, but specifically finds that defendant's possible need for surgery is speculative." [Emphasis added] (Add. 1, P. 5)

In so ruling the trial court made errors of law.

1. The burden is on the uninjured party to show a basis for sharing in the award. The court reversed that burden.

2. The court erred on the facts, as the evidence proved that there was no lost income nor medical expense attributable to the injury.

"The money received is the legal substitute for pain, suffering and the mental and physical disabilities incurred.

It is a right, peculiar to the injured person, to seek to be restored, or made whole, as he was before the injury.

The only damages truly shared are those discussed earlier, the diminution of the marital estate by loss of past wages or expenditure of money for medical expenses. Any other apportionment is unfair distribution." Amato v. Amato, supra, at 434 A.2d 642, 643.

It should be noted that in Amato the uninjured spouse had consortium rights. The rationale applies regardless though and is the same used in Izatt, supra, where, with the total recovery being \$97,000, the Utah court held "the fact that the \$97,000 belongs to defendant is not to be doubted." 627 P.2d at 51.

In the case at bar the trial judge made the finding that the award because proof hadn't been established as to distinction between general and special damages. This is punitive. Some part of the award had to be general damages. Rather than making effort to distinguish them, or requesting such evidence of counsel, the court simply forfeited the award from defendant's ownership without a factual basis.

In doing so the trial court exceeded Izatt which made no distinction between general and special damages, but rather limited the uninjured spouse to recovery based on proof of actual pecuniary loss to the family unit as result of the injury.

As plaintiff presented no such evidence the sharing of the personal injury award should be reversed and it be restored entirely to defendant.

In any event, a careful analysis of the evidence shows that the trial court erred on the facts. The evidence is fully adequate to indicate that there was no financial loss to the family as a result of the injury.

Special damages are essentially those for wage loss and medical expense.

Defendant lost nine months off work due to the injury. (R. 203, L 2-5).

The accounting letter, Addendum 4, on defendant's personal injury award states the necessary facts.

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