1986

# Helen Naranjo v. Jose L. Naranjo : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff submits that the trial court properly considered both the law and the equities in its order. Plaintiff, a 49 year old woman, long out of the job market and without marketable skills, was properly awarded possession of the home, approximately half the fixed assets of the marriage, and alimony.

Defendant, a self employed small businessman with substantial income, was properly awarded approximately half the fixed assets and the means to continue producing income.

As to the Kearns home and personal injury settlement, the Court properly found their values, based upon the evidence, or lack of evidence before it, and the conduct of the parties in relation thereto.

The order is proper, based upon the circumstances of the parties at the time of trial; the Court cannot guess what might happen in the future but retains the power to make such modifications as circumstances require.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DIVISION OF THE PERSONAL INJURY AWARD IS SUPPORTED BY EQUITY AND IS NOT PROHIBITED BY LAW

The Utah Supreme Court has held that the trial court has equity powers to assure that the welfare of the parties is best served. The trial court can take into consideration all the pertinent circumstances, including separate property or property derived from outside the marriage, even if acquired after entry of the decree of divorce, in making its



award. Wilkins -vs- Stout, 588 Pac 2d 145 (1978)

The court's findings in this case support the Decree. The court clearly indicated that it considered the source and existence of the certificates derived from the personal injury award, and took into account the parties' employment histories, current income, and disposition of other assets (R 236 L.13 - R237 L.4)

It is well established that the trial court has broad discretion in adjusting financial and property interests. A party challenging the trial court's distribution has the burden to prove a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, or that the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings, or a serious inequity has occurred. English -vs- English, 565 Pac 2d 409 (1977), Pope -vs- Pope 589 Pac 2d 752 (1978), Jespersion -vs- Jespersen 610 Pac 2d 326 (1980) the Utah Supreme Court, in each of the cases cited, has upheld a trial court's disposition of marital assets awarding one spouse a higher dollar figure in fixed assets, particularly when the other spouse, as in this case, is awarded the means by which to generate additional funds.

The award received in Defendant's personal injury case is not differentiated as to the portion attributable to future (and speculative) surgical expense, which portion is applicable to lost income, and which to general damages for pain and suffering (R 240 L.3 - 17; R 111) the discussion contained in Amato -vs- Amato, 434 A 2d 642 (NJ 1981) is not

dispositive of the applicable burden of proof, which presents as a question of first impression to this court, and is offset by this court's decision in Izatt -vs- Izatt, 627 Pac 2d 49 (1981) recognizing that separate assets are properly considered in dividing the parties' joint assets.

It is appropriate to award Plaintiff an interest in funds applicable to earnings, past, present and future, in this 16 year marriage, particularly as she was awarded alimony for an indefinite term.

In Izatt -vs- Izatt supra, the Court stated,

"Consistent with those statutes (30-2-1 and 30-2-4 UCA), the fact that the \$97,000.00 belongs to Defendant is not to be doubted. Nevertheless, the fact that she possesses that asset is one of the total circumstances the court could consider in making what he regards as a just and practical allocation of the property and finances of the parties." (page 51)

Plaintiff notes that the text of the statutes relied upon in Izatt, supra, are inapposite to the Defendant's claim herein. These statutes speak to liability for debts of the spouse, and the wife's right to bring an action, in her own name, to collect damages.

the trial court in Izatt, supra, did take the personal injury award into consideration in awarding the wife less than half the equity in the home of the parties, and no alimony, even though the parties had been married 16 years and the wife was disabled, and was in fact under guardianship.

Defendant concedes that he contributed \$11,459.45 to the marriage (Appellant's Brief page 8), but asserts that

the balance, approximately \$50,000.00, should be awarded to him as his separate property, in addition to a portion of all other marital assets.

Defendant put those funds in joint certificates. This appears to evidence an intent to share those funds with Plaintiff. Defendant assumes that the court is bound to award each party a fixed percentage of the marital assets. This assumption is contrary to law; and ignores the trial court's distribution, which gives Defendant a greater share of the marital assets, effectively compensating for inclusion of assets traceable to the injury award in the distribution Jespersion, supra, English, supra, Pope, supra (R 240 L.3 - 17)

Defendant was awarded cash assets, consisting of certificates and separate savings having a total value of approximately \$46,000.00. This is more than adequate to meet his speculative "need" for funds to cover prospective medical expenses.

The Court, in short, properly divided the assets of the parties, even allowing for the personal injury award. If there was an error, it was harmless; but in light of the equities, there was no error.

Defendant's contention that he was prejudiced, or that the property division was "punitive" is not supported by the facts of this case. The Court properly distributed the assets of the marriage taking those funds into account, when considered with all other facts and circumstances.

## II. THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ALIMONY IS PROPER

Defendant objects to the award of alimony and appears to argue that Plaintiff should be forced to obtain employment. This position fails to take into account the limited employment opportunities available to a woman 49 years of age, with ulcers and minimal skills, or the years she spent away from the job market tending to the needs of the parties and performing the support services necessary to permit Defendant to operate their business.

There is no basis for Defendant's claim that the award of alimony is punitive in any way; the record does not support such a contention. Rather, the Defendant argues that Plaintiff should be penalized for her unemployment at the time of trial. Defendant forgets that it was at his own insistence that Plaintiff was unemployed during the majority of the marriage. If the parties had remained married, Plaintiff would have had no greater incentive to find employment than she does now.

Plaintiff further notes that the alimony awarded is approximately one-third of Defendant's net income, and submits that this is a reasonable allocation of resources.

While it is possible that the Defendant's income may decrease, it is likewise possible that it may increase. Further, it is likely that the Defendant will find other sources of income should his health fail, i.e. leasing out his equipment, or working as a mechanic. (R 222 L.16 - L.25)

Plaintiff submits that it is not reasonable that

Defendant receive a windfall reduction of his support obligation during the period when he clearly has the necessary resources with which to pay the award. He is not in need of those resources now, but the Plaintiff is, and does not have the income or means of producing income available to the Defendant. (R 111, Findings #5 and 6) Additionally, Defendant receives a benefit from his payment of alimony, in that a portion of those funds are used to maintain the mortgage obligation on the home of the parties, and as a tax deduction.

This Court has recognized the disadvantaged position of the older woman, in reviewing an award of alimony in a case with similar facts. Jones v. Jones, 700 Pac 2d 1072 (1985)

It is entirely unrealistic to assume that a woman in her mid 50's with no substantial work experience or training will be able to enter the job market and support herself in anything resembling the style in which the couple had been living. (page 1075)

Additionally, the income available to Plaintiff from the Whiteman-Clark contract is uncertain (R 234 L.18 - R 235 L.3) and the National Military Underwriters stock produces no income. (R 206 L.6 - 7)

The principles enunciated in Frank v. Frank, 585 Pac 2d 453 (1973) are applicable to this case. This is a marriage of long duration, Plaintiff assisted Defendant during the lean years by helping him to begin his trucking business, and there exists a current disparity in the parties' earning potential. These facts and circumstances clearly support the Court's award of alimony. Where there

are sufficient resources to meet both parties' basic living expenses, there is no justification for reducing Plaintiff's income below the level of her expenses.

Defendant's argument that Plaintiff should be forced into the job market so she can later collect social security was made both at the time of trial and at the time of the Defendant's post Decree motion. There is no evidence in the record to shown whether Plaintiff has already accrued sufficient quarters to qualify her to receive social security. The argument might as well be made that Defendant pay no alimony so that his support burden can immediately be borne by the welfare system of this state. Plaintiff's time, efforts and resources during the 16 years of the marriage was invested in the joint enterprises of the parties' marriage, home and business. She is entitled to receive a just return for that investment. It is precisely that investment which now makes her unable to compete effectively in the marketplace.

The trial court properly noted that an award of alimony is subject to change, upon a showing of substantial change in the circumstances of the parties. (R 240 L.12 - 17) The trial court must, however, rely upon the current circumstances of the parties in making it's award.

Defendant largely bases his objection to the award on an event i.e. loss of health, which may occur at any time during an eight year span, or not at all. (Letter of Dr. Horne, Defendant's Exhibit 22) This prognosis does not rise

to a "probability...too great for the court to "content itself with the circumstances as they now exist". (Appellant's Brief p 21) Indeed, by Defendant's own testimony, he chooses to work overtime, and did so before the divorce; the Decree herein does not place that burden upon him. Nor is there any evidence in the record that Defendant's knee would be benefited by shorter working hours.

An alimony award should, as far as possible, equalize the parties' respective standards of living and maintain them at a level as close a possible to the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage. In determining the amount of alimony to be awarded, it is necessary for the trial court to consider the financial condition and needs of the Plaintiff, her ability to produce a sufficient income for herself, and the ability of the Defendant to provide support. Olsen v. Olsen, 15 Utah Adv. Rep. 8 (August 1985). The trial court in this case considered each of these factors before making it's award. (R 111 Findings #5,6,7)

Defendant's claim that he plans to divert additional monies to acquisition of capital assets for the business, i.e. new equipment, is not binding on the Court. Jones v. Jones, 700 Pac 2d 1072

The apportionment of income between personal and business uses is quite properly a matter left to the discretion of the husband asowner of the pharmacy and gift shop. However, how he chooses to allocate that profit is not binding on the court in determining his ability to pay alimony to his ex-spouse. The full profit produced by the business, adjusted by the court to take into account legitimate and reasonable needs of

the business for additional capital, should have been used as the basis for assessing the husband's ability to provide for his spouse. In making this analysis, the trial court should not permit all claims of need for capital on the part of the business to take precedence over the support needs of the wife. If these capital needs are a result of discretionary decisions of the husband to expand and improve the business, rather than to maintain it in its present condition, then to permit him to divert income into the business at the expense of his ex-spouse's support needs would be to permit him to enrich himself at her expense. page 1076

The trial court made its determination on the issue of alimony after a full trial of the issues, and further considered the issues and arguments raised herein on Defendant's post decree motion. Its judgment should be given the greatest deference. Dogu v. Dogu 652 Pac 2d 1308 (1982), DeRose v. DeRose, 19 Utah 2d 77, 426 Pac 2d 221 (1967).

The case at bar does not present the type of situation which the Court was compelled to remedy in Dogu, supra. The relief sought by Defendant in this case is not structured to protect Plaintiff's entitlement to future income, and can serve only to place her in a position of hardship contrary to the law's mandate to "equalize the parties' respective standards of living and maintain them at levels as close as possible to the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage". Olsen, supra, DeRose, supra Defendant proposes that he improve his standard of living at the expense of the Plaintiff, by significantly reducing her standard of living, so as to shift the burden of her support from himself to third parties. This position is contrary to the case law produced by this court, common principles of equity and



public policy. English, supra, Frank, supra.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO TRACE THE EQUITY IN  
THE KEARNS HOME

Defendant claims that he should be awarded restitution for the equity in a home purchased by him prior to the marriage.

Defendant produced no evidence of the value of the Kearns home at the time of his marriage to Plaintiff, and the testimony of the parties differed as to their contributions to its value. (R 227 L.11 - R 229 L.16) The trial court declined to speculate as to what that evidence might have been, or to apply the arbitrary computation suggested by the Defendant. It is not possible to compute the equity at the time of the marriage based upon the information in the record. Defendant failed to carry his burden of proof, leaving the trial court with no basis for awarding him a dollar value of equity in the Kearns home.

The cases upon which Defendant relies do not support his contention that it is more desirable to approximate rather than to make no determination at all. The cases cited are based upon contract law, and rely upon principles not responsive to the equities of domestic cases. The trial court recognized this in its statement that the parties had pooled their assets. (R 236 L.20 - R 237 L.9) This finding is supported by the conduct of the parties during the marriage, such as their sharing of resources, holding assets jointly, etc. The record does not show that Defendant made

any attempt to segregate the property.

In this case, the Plaintiff contributed her separate resources, to wit, the social security income she received for her children, and her labor, in improving the property. She also made substantial contributions to the property in Magna, i.e. the labor contributed by herself and her family in improving that property, which should equitably be considered in determining the proper distribution of assets.

The courts of this state have not stated an invariable rule that a party recover the property brought to the marriage; equity may require a different result.

Assuming, arguendo, that the property was validly conveyed to the husband prior to the marriage, it does not follow that it must be awarded solely to him in a property settlement, especially where the wife has used her separate resources to purchase the property from the husband's mother and to clear pending liens. Workman v. Workman, 652 Pac 2d 931 (1982) at 933

The Plaintiff in this case contributed her separate assets to the marriage and contributed to an increase in the value of the Kearns property. It is reasonable, and no abuse of discretion, that the proceeds of that property be deemed to be merged in the marriage.

#### IV. THE COURT PROPERLY DIVIDED THE NATIONAL MILITARY UNDERWRITER'S STOCK BETWEEN THE PARTIES

Defendant submits no case law to support the proposition that all the stock should be awarded to Plaintiff and the property distribution rearranged

accordingly. This distribution is properly founded in the discretion of the trial court and should not be disturbed.

The present distribution equalizes the risk of loss and the hope of profit, thereby insulating both parties and equalizing the values awarded to each. Plaintiff notes that each party received \$16,200.00 worth of stock, not \$32,400.00.

Plaintiff submits that the trial court did not err, nor abuse its discretion in dividing the stock between the parties. The trial court's discretion in adjusting the financial and property interests is not lightly set aside on appeal. English, supra.

#### V. THE MAGNA HOME WAS PROPERLY AWARDED TO THE PLAINTIFF

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